
            
 
 

Minutes of 
THE FACULTY SENATE 

OF 
ARKANSAS TECH UNIVERSITY 

 
 

The Faculty Senate met Tuesday, February 12, 2013, at 3:00 p.m. in Room 325 of the 
Ross Pendergraft Library and Technology Center. The following members were present: 

 
Dr. Carey Bosold    Dr. Eric Lovely 
Dr. Molly Brant    Dr. Kevin Mason 

 Dr. Ernest Enchelmayer   Dr. Cathi McMahan    
 Dr. Marcel Finan    Dr. Johnette Moody    
 Mr. Ken Futterer   Dr. Michael Rogers 
 Mr. Neal Harrington   Ms. Annette Stuckey 
 Dr. Sean Huss    Dr. Susan Underwood 
 Dr. Chris Kellner   Dr. Deborah Wilson 
 Dr. Robin Lasey    
   

Dr. Sherman Alexander, Dr. Annette Holeyfield, and Dr. David Ward were absent.   
Dr. Christine Austin attended as a visitor. 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF 
MINUTES 
 
 

President Futterer called the meeting to order and asked for a motion to approve the minutes 
of the December 4, 2012, meeting. 
 
Motion by Dr. Lasey, seconded by Dr. Moody, to approve the minutes as distributed. 
Motion carried. 
 
Dr. Lovely asked the Senate to amend the agenda to include a correction to the November 
2012 minutes which had an omission of the Biology curricular items and also to add a 
discussion on procedures for revising the Faculty Handbook to New Business. 
 
Motion by Dr. Lovely, seconded by Dr. Kellner, to amend the agenda to include a correction 
of the November 2012 minutes and to add this item to New Business.  Motion carried. 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
PRESIDENT’S 
APPOINTMENT TO 
SENATE 

President Futterer announced Dr. Wilson had been appointed by Dr. Brown to replace  
Dr. Bullock and welcomed her to the Senate. 
 
 
 

WIRELESS 
INTERNET IN 
RESIDENCE HALLS 
 
AGE 
REQUIREMENT TO 
RESIDE ON 
CAMPUS 
 
POLICY ON 
OBTAINING 
VISITOR PARKING 
HANGTAGS 

President Futterer reported he would be discussing the availability of wireless internet in the 
residence halls, the age requirement to reside on campus, and the policy on obtaining visitor 
parking permits with Ms. Susie Nicholson, Vice President for Student Services and 
University Relations, but they had not yet been able to meet. 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                2 

REPORT BY 
SUBCOMMITTEE 
REVIEWING 
ACADEMIC 
DISHONESTY 
 

Dr. Rogers reported that he and Dr. Austin had visited Lyon College a few years past and 
observed a model of faculty, students, and administrators working together campus wide, 
using a clearinghouse to process honor code violations and to maintain permanent records.  
Dr. Rogers mentioned Lyon College was the only institution in the state to use this model 
and the institution took great pride in it. 
 
Dr. Rogers suggested, with increasing occurrences of cheating, the university could develop 
an Academic Integrity Clearinghouse through which cases of alleged academic dishonesty 
and misconduct could be addressed.  He noted that one central issue would be deciding 
where this should be housed.  He distributed a document which included a flowchart (see 
Attachment A) demonstrating a proposed method for faculty and students to follow in these 
instances.  Dr. Rogers stated he believed the philosophy should be to educate violators on 
appropriate academic conduct first, and punish second. 
 
Dr. Kellner asked if students currently have a permanent record.  Ms. Chronister responded 
that the Admissions Office creates an electronic permanent record for each student.           
Dr. Enchelmayer questioned how a violation would “follow” a student and asked if it would 
go on their transcript.  Dr. Austin stated an “XF” could be assigned to a student failing a 
course by reason of academic dishonesty or misconduct.  Dr. Enchelmayer suggested if 
students were to receive a mark such as this on their transcript or permanent record, there 
may be a need for a process to remove the mark through proper academic conduct training.  
Mr. Harrington questioned if faculty could use an academic honesty contract in each class 
and suggested that repetition could reinforce the university’s honor code.  Dr. Austin added 
faculty could use standard language in course syllabi and also on exam blue books to 
promote awareness. 
 
Motion by Dr. Kellner, seconded by Dr. Wilson, to move forward with a code of honor and 
academic honesty.  Motion carried. 
 
Dr. Austin presented President Futterer with a proposed honor code (see Attachment B).  
President Futterer stated he would present the flowchart and proposed honor code to         
Dr. Watson and he would also discuss with Legal Counsel any potential liability with 
assigning a student the grade of “XF”.   
 

PROCEDURES FOR 
REVISION OF THE 
FACULTY 
HANDBOOK 
 

Dr. Lovely stated when the faculty were recently reminded to sign the Faculty Handbook 
acknowledgment page, he was approached by a faculty member who struggled to identify 
revisions from the previous year.  Dr. Lovely also noted some changes in the handbook had 
not come through the Senate and were not covered in the press releases from the Board of 
Trustees meetings.  He suggested the administration, as a matter of courtesy and respect, 
send revisions through the Senate for comment before being presented to the Board.  He 
clarified that he was not asking for the Senate to vote on and approve revisions, but to 
provide comments to be taken to the Board. 
 
President Futterer commented that a digest of revisions, comparing the previous version to 
the revised version, would be beneficial.  Ms. Chronister stated, currently, faculty are 
provided with a list of changes and corresponding page numbers, but she would look further 
into distributing a digest and what that would entail from Academic Affairs.  President 
Futterer asked if a subcommittee should be formed to develop a motion.  Dr. Rogers 
suggested the Senate instead use the already existing subcommittee currently reviewing 
promotion and tenure issues. 
 
Motion by President Futterer, seconded by Dr. Kellner, to task the subcommittee reviewing 
promotion and tenure issues with additionally reviewing procedures for revising the Faculty 
Handbook.  Motion carried. 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                3 

OLD BUSINESS: 
REPORT ON 
RETIREMENT 
FUNDS 
 

President Futterer stated he has submitted a written request for the name of the university’s 
TIAA/CREF representative to Mr. David Moseley, Senior Vice President for Finance and 
Administration, for the purpose of asking the representative to address the Senate on the 
faculty’s ability to borrow from retirement funds.  Dr. Wilson suggested contacting 
TIAA/CREF directly to request information regarding the university’s representative. 
 
Dr. Mason asked if the issue with faculty being unable to borrow retirement funds was a 
matter of whether or not that faculty member was fully vested.  He stated he was aware of 
faculty who had either obtained a portion of their retirement funds prior to retirement or 
prior to being of retirement age, and they did so directly from TIAA/CREF without 
involving the university.  Dr. Underwood questioned if these could have been funds from 
employment at a previous university.  Dr. Mason confirmed that was a possibility.             
Dr. Rogers suggested these faculty members may have been withdrawing rather than 
borrowing funds, which could also be the explanation.   
 

REPORT ON 
FACULTY HIRING 
PRACTICES AND 
REVIEW OF 
INTERNATIONAL 
FACULTY STATUS 
 

Dr. Huss distributed the final draft of the faculty survey on hiring practices.  He asked the 
Senate to provide any feedback they may have within a week, and emphasized the 
importance of the survey being dispersed this semester as this process began the previous 
year. 
 
Motion by Dr. Bosold, seconded by Dr. Rogers, to submit the final draft of the survey to the 
faculty without revision.  Motion carried. 
 
Dr. Huss stated he would allow the faculty one week to respond to the survey and he 
anticipated having data to present at the following Senate meeting.   
 
Dr. Lovely informed the Senate that Ms. Jennifer Fleming, Affirmative Action Coordinator, 
provides training to search committees on conducting proper faculty searches; specifically, 
how to address international applicants.  Dr. Lovely suggested she be invited to speak to the 
Senate and answer any questions the senators may have on this issue.  President Futterer 
stated he would extend an invitation to Ms. Fleming to address the Senate. 
  

REPORT BY 
SUBCOMMITTEE 
REVIEWING 
PROMOTION AND 
TENURE ISSUES 
 

President Futterer asked for a report.  Dr. Lasey responded the subcommittee did not yet 
have anything to report. 

REPORT BY 
SUBCOMMITTEE 
ON FACULTY 
SENATE 
MEMBERSHIP 
 

Dr. Lovely requested the subcommittee remain in place until the results of the election were 
received.  Dr. Kellner asked if the two issues (addition of tenure as a requirement for 
membership and removal of the appointed membership) were combined or if they were 
instead being voted on separately.  Dr. Underwood answered that it was a separate ballot 
item.  She questioned if, assuming the membership issues passed, the faculty could be 
electing senators who would then be ineligible.  Dr. Lovely responded that while it was 
possible, the upcoming members would be “grandfathered in” without the need to qualify 
under the new criteria.   
 
Dr. Rogers encouraged the senators to discuss these ballot items with their departments prior 
to the election to ensure the faculty are informed.  Dr. Underwood asked the Senate to also 
encourage their departments to participate in the elections.  She reported the current 
response rate is near 50% participation. 
 

EVALUATION OF 
ADMINISTRATORS 

President Futterer reported Dr. Watson had visited with Dr. Brown in regard to inviting a 
consultant to campus for review of the evaluation process.  He stated Dr. Brown is at present 
considering this action for the fall term, and mentioned this process could bring all aspects 
of the institution under inspection as part of a strategic planning intiative. 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                4 

OPEN FORUM Dr. Bosold stated she recently attended an event at UAMS and learned the faculty there had 
encountered an issue within Blackboard in which students could access and print exams they 
had taken previously.  She discussed this problem with Computer Services and found the 
course instructor is able to resolve the issue by disabling this ability within Blackboard (see 
Attachment C).  Dr. Bosold recommended this information be presented through a campus 
announcement as many faculty are likely unaware of this issue entirely. 
 
Dr. Bosold mentioned an issue with the noise level on campus near Dean Hall due to heavy 
activity and events held during the day at the Hindsman Bell Tower.  She stated her students 
have worn ear plugs during exams and students have noted the noise issue on course 
evaluations.  President Futterer noted this matter will be added to New Business for the 
following Senate meeting and asked Dr. Bosold to bring supporting documentation to 
present. 
 
Dr. Lovely questioned the revision of the academic calendar to have final exams scheduled 
the week prior to the holiday break.  Ms. Chronister responded the final exam schedule was 
a result of classes beginning one week later for enrollment management purposes.  She 
explained that by beginning the semester after other institutions have already began, the 
university is in a position to enroll those students unable to begin classes at an earlier date. 
 
Dr. Rogers reported he was approached by a faculty member who was struggling to compile 
a schedule which allowed ten office hours.  He stated other universities in the region had 
reduced the faculty requirement for office hours from ten to five.  Dr. Underwood added that 
with the expansion of online instruction, she has noticed an expectation from online students 
for the instructor to be available immediately and constantly.  President Futterer noted this 
combined issue will be added to New Business for the following Senate meeting. 
 
Dr. Underwood stated she is unaware of the university procedure in the event of campus 
violence.  She specifically expressed interest in a procedure for reporting students 
demonstrating unusual behavior and requested the faculty be given training.  President 
Futterer noted in the past, Public Safety has provided a procedure for when the campus alert 
is activated, but the faculty need to know their course of action within the classroom. 
 

ADJOURNMENT The meeting adjourned at 4:31 p.m. 
 

 
 
 
         Respectfully submitted, 

          
         Ken Futterer, M.M., President 

 
Sean Huss, Ph.D., Secretary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                5 

Attachment A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                7 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                8 

 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                9 

 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                10 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                11 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                12 

Attachment B  



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                13 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                14 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                15 

 
 
 
 
 
 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                16 

Attachment C 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                17 



The Faculty Senate – February 12, 2013                18 

 
 


